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Foreword

The purpose of the writer in preparing this book is to
provide, in convenient form, a source of information on the
founding and carly history of Lititz, and the origin of some
of its institutions and customs; and to show how these have
influenced the development of the modern Borough and its
activitics.

The writer has drawn upon the following sources in
preparing this history:

Translations of Moravian Church records.

oy

“Sketch of Early History of Lititz, 1742-75," by H. A. Bricken-
stein (undated) .

Various articles in “Historical and Pictorial Lititz,” compiled
and published in 1905 by John G. Zook.

Papers published in “Transactions of the Moravian HHistorical
Socicty,” on:
“The Moravian Graveyards of Lititz,” by Abraham R.
Beck (Vol. VII, Part 1V - 1905).
“Town Regulations of Lititz, 1759,” by Herbert H. Beck
(Vol. XI, Part IIT - 1936).

Papers read before the Lancaster County Historical Society, on:

“Lititz._ a Center of Early Musical Life in Lancaster
County,” by Herbert H. Beck (Vol. XIX - 1915).

“The Military Hospital at Lititz, 1777-78,” by Herbert
H. Beck (Vol. XXIII - 1919).

“The Memorial Marker to General John Augustus Sutter,”
by M. Luther Heisey (Vol. XLIH, No. 4 - 1939).

“Apothecaries of Lancaster County, 1760 to 1900,” by
George L. Heiges (Vol. 1., No. 2 - 1946).

Most of the illustrations showing early "buildings and
scenes in Lititz have been made possible through the courtesy
of the Trustees of the Lititz Moravian Congregation and the
Lancaster County Historical Society, in loaning pictures from
which cuts could be made.

The modern scenes are from photographs by David E.

Miller.
Mary Augusta Huchener
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A Briet History of Lititz

Beginnings

The history of Lititz, which for many vears was coinci-
dent with that of the Moravian Congregation, begins in 1742,
with a visit of Count Nicholas Louis von Zinzendorf, patron
of the renewed Moravian Church, to the house of Jacob
Huber, about a mile north of the present Borough, where the
Count delivered an address on the evening of December 2, to
some of the neighboring farmers. "The Huber house is still
standing, and has been marked by the Lancaster County His-
torical Society, with a tablet commemorating the momentous
visit.

John George Klein, Huber's nearest neighbor, lailed to
attend the meeting on account of a prejudice which he held
against Zinzendorf; but his conscience kept him awake all
night because of his conduct, for it was a time of religious
awakening among the Pennsylvania Germans, brought about,
largely, by the preaching of itinerant ministers from the Mora-
vian scttlement of Bethlehem, who for several years had heen
holding services in the vicinity. "The next day Klein followed
Zinzendorf to Lancaster, heard him preach in the cowrthouse,
and was deeply moved—so deeply, that the whole cowrse of
his life was changed.

As a result of Zinzendorf's visit, a resident Moravian
minister was sent to Warwick Township, where he carried on
pastoral work with much success, also conducting work among
the Reformed at Muddy Creck who were without the benelit
of pastoral care from their own denomination.

The St. James Church

In 1744, Klein gave permission for the ercection on his
land of the St. James Church, a log building which stood a
short distance west of the road to Lancaster, on a plot now
known as “The Old Graveyard” (At the corner of Pine Alley
and the western extension of Center St—between Broad and
Spruce Sts.). Here scrvices were held monthly by the Rev.
Lawrence Nyberg, Pastor of the Lutheran Church at Lan-
caster. He had rather independent views which his congre-
gation did not share, and they finally suspended him in 1746,
after which he preached in the St. James Church regularly
every Sunday, opening his pulpit also to itincrant Moravian
ministers w.'o happened to be in the vxcmlty He cventually
joined the iloravians.
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Warwick Moravian Country Congregation
In Scptember of thar vear, 1746, a meeting was held at
George Klein’s house to consider building a “Gemeinhaus”
— a combination school and meceting house (as distinguished
from the church) —and Klein donated three and three-quarters
acres ol land for this purpose in the eastern part of the pres-
ent town, (W Ground was broken at once, and two years
later the building was com-
1 pleted, and a school consist-
1 ing of four boys and three
girls opened by the Rev. Leon-
ard Schnell, Schnell was soon
given an assistant, for he also
had charge ol preaching and
visiting  at  Muddy Creek,
Hceidelberg, Lancaster, Tulpe-
hocken, Quittepehille, Done-
gal, and  “bevond the  Sus-
quchanna,”  On February 9,
1749, the “Warwick Country

First cGenreinhans’ (combination
school, mecting  Louse and  narsen- . acrentd " - . [
aer. - Cellar dug, . November 1716: - Congregation” of the Unitas
corner-stone = lald. - Mareh 20, 107 Fragum, or Moravian Church,

oceupied,  May 24, 17N (I'rom an . .
ald drawing.) was organized,  with  eleven
members;  the  number  be-
ing increased to thirty-five by the end of the vear.t®) These

lived on farms and consequently were widely scattered.

Founding of Lititz

It was Zinzendorf’s ambition to organize a  Church
Settlement, which should be under strict spiritual supervision,
where members of the Moravian Church might reside who
desired to live and bring up their children in a religious at-
mosphere, free from  worldly influences. Several  locations
were under consideration, but when George Klein offered
his entire farm of 191 acres for this purpose, his offer was
accepted and the village was located in Warwick Township.

(1)--This first “Gemeinhaus” stood on a bluff on the south bank of the
creek, between North Locust and Onk Streets,

(2)—The names of the first members of the Warwick Moravian Country
Congregation were: George Kilein and Leonard Bender, who were admitted
into the Moravian Chuarch at Bethlehem on Nov, 13, 1718 GQeorge Kiesel, Sr,,
and wife, Frederie Kiesel and wife, Jacob Scherzer and wife, Anna Klein
(George Kleln's wife) and Verona Rudy (wife of Henry Rudy), who were
admitted at  Heldetberg on Nov., 2, 148; and Ienry Rudy., admitted
at Bethel, Jan. 26, 1749, These were the eleven members who formed the
original congregation on Feb, 9, 1749, ‘T'o tl 'se were added. during the
vear: Nicholns Kiesel and wife, admitted at Bethlehem on Mavy 28: and
the followlng twentv-two. taken into the congregation at Warwlek during
a Nynod held here Nov., 20 to 23: Paul Lesson and wife, Andrew Frey and
wife, Christapl: Frey and wife, Valentine Grosh and wife, Christian Palmer
and wife, Francis Seih, Margaret Bihler, Jacob IHell and wife, Christinn
Kiing and wife, Gottlieb Velt and wife, Barbara Plattenberger. Elizaheth
Bechtel, Catharine Stoehr and Elizaheth Palmer.
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The formal wansfer of the property was made in 1755 ()
and the next year, 1756, the town received its name, “Litit,”
) in commemoriation of “Litit2”” in Bohemia, where, three
hundred years carlier, in 1156, the followers of John Hus
had found refuge, and where, within the next twelve months,
they founded the Moravian Church, the oldest of the Protest-

ant denominations.

* [
Early Buildings
On February 9, 1757, the new town ol Lititz was sur-
veyed and laid out into lots. The main street, which does not
run due cast and west, took
its direction from a stone house

which Klein had built shortly ;
hefore he turned over his farm ;
to the church. This was the o

’ i

first housce in Lititz, It was in
this building that the  first
settlers of Zinzendort’s Congre-
gaton village—three families
from Doncgal and four from
Bethel —found  refuge  when
they fled here to escape Indian
raids. .\ portion of the wall of
this first house was left stand-
ing when  the building  was
l‘Clll()\'(‘(l i“ |8(;ﬁ, ;l"d now First honse in Lititz, built by George
forms part of the rear wall of Rlein in1ist. It was forn down in
. S, bot drs rear wall remains, form
the present threesstory brick e " part “of “the * present huilding,
building which stands on its §upil, o, Vg, St ot b g
site at 125-129 Fast Main St
From time (o time other familice from  Bethlehem,
Nazareth, Muddy Creck and eclsewhere, took up residence in
Lititz, and some moved into the town from the swrrounding
country. ‘T'he first private dwelling was built in 1757, next door
to Klein's stone house. It is stll standimg  (at 121 East Main
Street), as are four others that were built within the next
five ycars,
The fivst congregation houses built after the settlement
was cstablished, were the “Sisters’” House,” now the Linden Hall
Junior College building, and the “Brethren’s House,” now

(1)—1In one of the early Church records, compiled some years after the
events oceurre i, the date of the transfer of Klein’s farm g given as August
20, 1534, and fater accounts have copied this date. However, the deed ftself
bears the date, August 20, 1735, and this s supported by certain evidence,
umonyg which is a letter in regard to the preparation of the deed, which
is dated May 22, 17565,

() —According to Brickenstein's Ylistory, this is the correct spelling, as
It is found in the Roheminn, or (zech, language. In Qerman the second
“t" is unnecessary for the proxunciation, and it was often dropped. In
the early diavies, eote., the two 2peliings, “Litiz” and cLititz” are used

interchangeably.
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the old part of the Moravian Sundav School building.  These

were erected to house the unmarried of both sexes, where

they could have special religious supervision and he taught

trades of various kinds, Residence in the buildings was not

compulsory; the young people took no vows of any kind, and
were free to leave whenever they wished.

In 1759 the Warwick and Lititz Moravian Congregations

‘'were united, and a few years later a new Gemeinhaus, the

) present parsonage, wis

* built.  (The old St.

.'":*Tz ’ [ .

,f{{f'ﬂ;f‘ . - : s James Church had fal-
ot R RN j len into disrepair and
o - was no longer used. It

was taken down in
1771) .  Services were
held in the new ge-
meinhaus until the

s ey AES
Mq
] Toatge g S . a : . - .

d Jade Y d bl 3T . church was erected in
J + 1787. T'his church is
the same structure in

which the Moravian

Moravian Chureh, huilt in 1787, as it

appeared hefore 1t was remodeled in c()ngrcg;ni()n worships
1857, The second “Gemelnhans!’ aow . .
;ho p:;rsmmm\ (huilt lnl f‘?ﬂ‘.’-‘}"). lIs loda)', but it was re-
mmediately  to the oft 0 the H "o
chure, Next to {t is the “Sisters’ modeled in IS" /s
House” (built 1738-60). now the Lin- when  the  vestibule
den Hall Junior College building: | Ini L
unl:l ;mi tillu"i oxt{lomifl- h-ﬁ!.))thn\ main anc puipit - recess
schiool building ~aflt 1769y, A por- oY . .
tion of the *Rre:hren’s House” may were ‘l(!dc(l,‘l"d th
he geen on the right.  (IHustration WhOlC mterior reno-
taken from a drawing made In 1836) vated

€t .

Government of the Congregation Village

The congregation was divided into "choirs” a« it is to-
day — children, unmarried women, unmarried men, married
couples, and in those days also widows and widowers. This
arrangement was for the purpose of religious supervision, but
families lived in their own private homes, and not in com-
munity houses as in Bethlehem.

The secular affairs of the settlement were in the hands
of a committee of overscers, later called the “Aufseher Col-
legium,” which administered the very detailed rules adopted
by the congregation for the conduct of the cveryday business
and home life of its members. No one was allowed to build a
house, change his occupation, or even have a guest over night,
without first getting permission from the “Collegium.” Resi-
dents were expected to purchase nothing outside of Lititz
which could be secured here, and strict rules were made to
prevent profiteering, in the absence of competition. These
rules had to be signed and obeyed by every member.

[81



View of Lititz from the Moravian Church steeple.  (Taken from a water
color painting made about 1813.)  Note the cornice of the “Brethren's
Hotxse™ in the left foreground.  ‘Fhe ‘smaell buflding in the center fore-
pround is the old blacksmith shop in which John Beck began his school,

End of the “Lease System” — Other Churches

For a long time none but Moravians were permitted 1o
live in the town, and even up to the middle of the last cen-
tury, only members of the congregation could own  their
houses.  The land was all owned by the Church, and lots were
leased 1o housc-owners.  ““This lease-system” was in operation
tll 1855, After it was abolished the lots were sold to the
cecupants for S50 cach. Then the town was opened to non-
Moravians; and, although it lost much of its carlv quaint-
ness, it developed along vy lines, until it became the
thriving Borough we know today.

Within twenty years a sccornd ~hurch, the Evangelical,
was ostablished in the tewi; wn veuwss later the Lutheran
Congregation came into beira, followad in quick succession
by the Brethren and the United Bietiwwen.  Since the wurn of
the century, the Mennonite, the Reformed, and the Catholic
congregations have been added.  All these churches ave carry-
ing on religious work in Lititz today, and the spirit of co-
operation among them is strong.  Within recent vears the
Gospel Tabernacle has been conducting services in the Bor-
ough.

Schools

It was out of the Sisters’ House that Linden Hall, the
famous girls’ school, grew; and its beginning really dates back
to the Rev. Schnell’s little school in the old Gemeinhaus. That
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wus carried on till 1765, when it was divided, the girls being
taught in the Sisters’ House, and the boys continuing for a
time in the original building, which, being built of logs, was
then taken down and rebuilt in the town, on a lot nearly
opposite the Sisters’ House. In 1766 scveral Moravian girls
from Lancaster were admitted into the girls’ school, and in
1791 little cight-ycar-old Peggy Marvel, from Baltimore, the
first non-Moravian pupil, was entered.  After this the school
grew rapidly and pupils from all over the country, and be-
yond, have been enrolled.  An additional house for the school,
now the main building, was crected in 1769, and later en-
larged.  The Mary Dixon Memorial Chapel was presented to
the school in 1885, by
George \W. Dixon, the
father of once of the
students.  The  Post-
Graduate Department,
begun in 1880, was ex-
panded into a Junior
College in 1935, To-
dav  the school  occu-
pics four luge build-
imgs, and has a spa-
cious, beautifully land-
scaped campus. Tt eele-
Linden  Hall  Junior  College  and brated its bi-centennial

Sehool for Girts, ostablished 1748, in 1946.

In 1815 John Beck took charge of the boys’ school, which
in the mean time had been moved into an abandoned black-
smith shop ihat stood on the site ol the Movavian Home, on
Church Ave. Under his marvelous teaching it soon outgres:
the building, whizh was replaced by more commodious quar-
ters. The new building, in turn, became inadequate, so that
the Brethren’s House, which had ceased to serve its original
purpose, was ialso occupied by the school. During the fifty
years that Jolhn Beck was in charge, more than 2,000 boys
were educated here, coming from most of the States of the
Union, some of the principal countries of Europe, the West
Indics, and ceven from Hindostan; and going forth to fill
positions of trust and importance in the business and profes-
sional world.  After Mr. Beck retived in 1865, the Academv
was continued for about twenty years by several of his
teachers,

A boys’ “Family School,” conducted for thirty vears by
Abraham R. Beck, a son of the famous educator. also at-
tairzed marked success and wide reputation, for he inherited
his father’s exceptional genius in handling boys and his un-
usual teaching ability. The school was discontinued in 1895.
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The Public School system wis introduced into Lititz in
1852; but, because of the excellent girls’ and bovs™ schools
already cstablished here, only a
primary school was carried on
until 1866, the tuition of the
older pupils being paid in
these private schools by the
District.  An additional build-
ing for the High School was
built in 1870, and both this
and the original school build-
ing were enlarged from time
to time. They were replaced
by the present building in
1918. A commodious addition
to this consolidated school was Lititz Public Schaol building, crected

. . 108 enlarged, 1040,
crected in 1910, to provide
space for a combined public and school library, a more
adequate gymnasium, and a number of additional class rooms.

Military Hospital

During the Revolutionary War the Brethren's House
was commandceered by General Washington, for a military
hospital,  and  from .
December 19, 1777, to
August 28, 1778, it
was  used  for  that
purpose. ‘T'he Breth-
ren had 1o vacate
and  find quarters
clsewhere, and  dwr-
ing the cight months’
period, a total of be-
tween  five  hundred
and a thousand sick
and wounded soldiers
were cared for with-
in its walls. The

The “Brethren's, House” (bullt 1759-

61), as it appeared when it wog used building was fre-
as a Military Hospital for a period N 5 ‘ .
of eheht months during the Itevolu- quently so  crowded
Oonary ‘ar.  from eeembwer 190, . . N .
1777, to August 28, 1778, (Courtesy of that all the roowms
Lancaster County Historleal Soclety.) and ceven the halls

were filled with the sick. At one time the two mili-
tary doctors (M in charge were ill, and were attended by the
(1)—The first pharmacopoein (medical encyelopedia) published in Amerlea

was written in Lititz in 1778, by Dr. Witliam Brown, I’hysician General
of the Continental Army Hospital at Lititz, It was printed in D’hila-

delphia,
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Lititz  physician, Dr. Adolp
Meyer. 1t is hard to imagine
the misery at the hospital,
due to over-crowded condi-
tions, lack of proper nursing
and medical attention. One
hundred and ten of  the
soldiers died and were buried
on a plot to the cast of the
village, which is now desig-
nated by a stone marker,
v Bl L, Subks crected by the United States
p}‘;w“l’,\v,\ v: e . 3 ’ . Q¢
LTSN Tl government in 19300 Many
g of the deaths were due to
“camp fever,” which, in spite
ol precautions, spread to the
‘ village, claiming six deaths
Old house, known as the *“Regennas . :
Hous»,” which stood in the rear of amqng the lO\\llS')CO])]C‘, m
ulm “Brv(lhr'on‘s“llulnso,"R (]1~‘r(;\n: o addition to a number of
photograph by Abraham R. Beck. . . R : P
was in this building that the first CA4SCS which did not jprove
pLarnzicopoein published  in Ameriea fyq]
was written. The Regennas House : . .
was  torn down fn 1931 to make At one time 1t was ru-
room for the new portion of the .
Maravian  Sunday  Nehoo!l  building.  mored that the whole town
was to be evacuated and used
as a General Hospital; but it was not found necessary to

take this drastic action.

The Town of Warwick

The Northwestern section of the present borough of
Lititz, including the land north of Front Street and west of
North Cedar Street, was not a part of the original Moravian
Settlement, but was known as Warwick., It was built on a
part of what had been Jacob Huber's farm, by people who
were not Moravians, and, therefore, could not live in Lititz;
but who wanted to share, and have their children share, some
of the benelits of the scttlement.

According to an old story,( Nicholas Stroh, a son-in-law
of Huber's, operated a “public house” on this land during
the Revolutionary War. Being a Tory, his inn became a
rendezvous for the Tories of the neighborhood, who held
sccret meetings in his barn. Stroh’s wife, however, was a
staunch patriot; and, questioning the purpose of the meetings,
hid herself in a hay mow while one of them was in progress,
and lcarned of a treasonable plot the men were concocting.
The next day, she fearlessly confronted her husband and the
others in the barroom, and threatened, if the plot were carried

(1)—S8ee article on “The Village of Warwick'” in “Historieal and Pfe-
torinl Lititz.” DPage 153
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out, to tell her father, Jacob Huber, who would have them
arrested and hung for treason. The threat had its effect, and
the Tory meetings were broken up.

Somc time after Strol’s death, his estate was bought
from the administrators by a syndicate consisting of Charles
Monteluis, a Mr. Hibshman and others, who divided up the
land into 153 town lots, for which cerulicates were sold,
and a drawing was made at a lottery on August 21, 813,
The town was laid out in a rather grant diose style, with a
square on Market Street, where a market house was to be
crected as soon as the population warranted it. This plan
was never carried out.

In 1836, when many of L i ,
the lots in Warwick had been .1“'5&“%‘”:‘ w#
purchased, and the town con- s :p
sisted of cighteen houses, the
entire tract of more than 66
acres was scized by the Sher-
il of Lancaster County and
sold for the sum ol S6,000
to Frederick Zitzman, to satis-
fy a claim on the Suroh cs-
tate.  Zitzman, afterwards re-
sold the land to David Brick-
cr,M the later acting for the

. et nr , e tr . . Revolutionary War Mewmorinl erected
P'_OPU() owners who !hl(l Or- hy the United States CGovernment in
lg’“m”)’ l)()llth their lots 1930, to mark the spot where 110
- he sy ‘l- N soldiers who died in the Livitz Mili-
from the syndicate. tary Iospital are buried.

Lititz Incorporated

Lititz was incorporated as a borough April 24, 1888, and
on January 25, 1915, the borough limits were extended to
take in Warwick, which by that time had expanded to the
cast and included not only the or iginal town of Warwick, but
the scction of land cast of North Cedar Street and north of
Front Street, known as the “Leaman Addition.” This section
was (mg,m.llly a part of the George Klein [arm, which had
been sold by the Moravian Congregation,

At the same time, 1915, outlving residential sections to
the south and cast were incorporated into the Borough, in-
cluding the “Broad Street Addition to the Borough of Lititz,”
and other tracts which have since been developed.

Fire Protection
An interesting chapter in the history of Lititz is its
cfforts at fire protection, which have culminated in the pres-

(1)—The father of the Iante Capt. John R, Bricker, and the grandfather
of the present generation of Brickers.

(131



ent cfficient organization of approximately five hundred mem-
bers known as Lititz Fire Company No. 1.

In the carly “Settlement” days the minutes of the
“Aufscher Colleginm” have many references to measures aimed
at preventing fires. They wisely decreed that the pottery
should be built on the south side of the street, so that the
prevailing northwest wind would blow the sparks from
the oven away from the houses. Detailed rules were made
in regard to the building of houses and shops, the placing of
hake-ovens and fire-places, the sweeping and burning out of
chimneys.  Fire was not to be caurried from one house to an-
other except “in well-protected  iron or carthern pots™ or,
better still, “cevery family should have its own tinder box.”
The smoking of cigars on the street was not to be tolerated.
Fire inspectors were appointed to see that these regulations
were carried out and were instructed, among other things, to
“warn people of the danger there is in cats lying necar the
five-places, as they like to do.”

As carly as 1790 sub-
scriptions  were  solicited  to
purchase a fire engine. It was
bought in  Germany, and
shipped “by the grace of God”
(as the hill of lading read) to
New  York, and thence,
through Philadelphia, to Lit-
itz in 1793. It was named the
“Assistance.” A fire company
by that name was organized
fuogrding to e dute Abwabam R jp 1838 right after a disas
posed some  years ago on the two trous fire had occurred, which
old fire engines now on display  in .y 3
the Lititz Mutunl Insurance Company (lCSll'OyC(l several l)llll(ll“gs
It o init dhis enzghue, marked —and - threatened  the  whole
“Assistance.” the first engine ‘in_Lit- aiilage.  Another engine, the
ftz, purchased in Germany in 1793, L S Y

Friendship,” was then pur-
chased.  Both these engines were pumped by hand, and fed
by a line of buckets passed from one person to another. In
1855 the “Friendship” TFire Company, emploving both en-
gines, replaced the carlier one.

The present fire company, itself, has a history of more
than fifty years behind it. Organized in 1894, it was, from
the beginning, a great improvement over the carlier oncs.
With its hose-carts (hand-drawn), and thousand feet of
three-inch hose, it was able to throw water over the tallest
buildings in the borough from the street hydrants fed by a
onc-hundred-foot stand-pipe, which the new Water Company,
organized the previous yecar, had installed. Lititz Fire Com-
pany No. I has kept abreast of the times by continuous im-
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provement of equipment and methods, so that with its modern
motor-propelled and operated engines, and its quick response
to calls, it has prevented any
major blaze in many ycears.

The old engines, the
“Assistance”  and  “Friend-
ship,” are still in existence.
They are the property of the
Moravian Congregation, and
are on display in the hand-
some  new  building  at -the
corner of Broad and West
Main Streets, which is  the
home officc of the Lititz }
Mutual Insurance Company,  [iite Mutual o lusirauce - Company

Early Customs

Along with the quaint dress which the carly settlers
brought with them from the old counuy (for the Moravians
arc of German descent), they introduced many beautiful ens-
toms. The distinctive garb has long since disappeired, but
the more signifcant of the customs have survived, and even
grown in popularity, to the present day.  Among these might
be mentioned the lovefeasts, the “choir” festival days, the
Easter dawn service, and the Christimas Eve service.

The carliest mention of the Easter dawn service in the
Moravian Church records is in 1759, when the congregation
gathered around the first grave, that of a six-weeks-old baby,
at whose burial, the fall before, the “God’s Acre” to the
south of the present church had been consecrated. Then,
for the first time, a double service was held, first on the St.
James graveyard, which had been the congregation buvial
place up to that time, and then on the present graveyard.
Every ycar since then, the resurrcction of our Lord, and the
hope of His followers in a future life, have been commem-
orated in this manner. Today, as of old, the inhabitants are
awakened in the wee, small hours of the morning, by beauti-
ful Moravian chorales, as the trombonists thread their way
through the quict streets, announcing the service in  this
unique manner. Later, after a short liturgy in the Church,
they lead the throngs that have assembled, up the driveway to
the graveyard, as they 'play antiphonally their triumphant
hymns of faith. There, in the presence of the Chruch Tri-
umphant, the service is concluded just as the sun appears
above the horizon.
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The Moravian Christmas Eve services date back to the
year the town was established, 1756, when, the Church records
tell us, a lovefeast was held on that day. The first children’s
Christmas Eve service took place in 1759; and in 1765, for
the first time, lighted candles were given to the children. To-
day, although three crowded services are held, and everyone
present receives a candle, the joy shining in the faces of the
modern children is no greater than that exhibited by the
little ones whose laces were illumined by those first tapers,
almost. two hundred years ago.

Other customs have come down from the past: at
Christmas  time, the baking of Christmas cookics, making
Christmas “putz’s”  (a “vard” under the Christmas tree),®
cte.; but the most fomiliar of all the old customs to cveryone
in Lititz is the ringing of the “half-past-cleven bell” from the
Moravian Church steeple cach week-day. Here, as in Beth-
lchem and other Moravian Settlements, this custom was be-
gun in the carly days when time-pieces were few, to call the
workers in from the fields for dinner. An entry in the
“Aufscher Collegium” minutes of February 20, 1788, is inter-
esting: “'Is not the noon hour bell usually rung in other con-
gregations at 11:452 But we found it good to leave it as it
is.”  Elsewhere the ringing of the bell has been discontinued,
but in Lititz the Moravian Official Boards, recognizing the
time-honored custom, have continued to “leave it as it is”; so
that for necarly a century and three- quarters the voice of the
past has spoken cach day at 11:30, the time of the original

dinner hour.

Music

The musical life of Lititz, which has manifested itself in
numerous and various instrumental and vocal organizations,
had its beginning in the early “Scttlement” days, when music
was the once outlet for the aesthetic tastes which was not
frowned upon by the authoritics, but was acually encouraged.
As carly as 1765 an orchestra was organized in the
Brethren’s House by Bernard Adam Grubé, pastor of the
Moravian congregation: who also instituted a Church choir.
Grubd was an accomplished musician, who not only was able
to arrange parts for an orchestra or choir, but wrote a num-
ber of original compositions that formed a part of the
musical library used in the church services. A number of

later pastors were also composers of note.
The Brethren’s House orchestra played both sacred
music and symphonics and other compositions by the great
(1)—The early “putz’'s” always inciuded the nativity scene as the central
feature, The majority at the present time have gone modern, with

electrie traing, farm scenes, mechanienl toys, ete., sometimes having no
connection with the religious atmosphere of Christmas.
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masters, using carefully hand-copicd scores. A number of the
old musical instruments are preserved in the Moravian Church
archives, and their vaviety give a hint as to the versatility of
*he players.

One of the carliest orchestral organizations after the
Brethren’s House orchestra, was the Philharmonic Society,
which functioned between 1815 and 1845, and gave concerts,
rendering such music as Havdn’s “Crcation” and “The Sca-
sons.”

The first village band was organized in 1810, in a day
when such organizations were a rarity, It had all the instru-
ments of the period except a drum, which the authorities posi-
tively forbade, as being too worldly.

A sccond band, organized in 1820, cvidentlv had a wide
reputation, for it was engaged by Lancaster in 1821 1o wel-
come Lafayette on a visit to that city; and also accompanied
the Governor of Pennsylvania and his party to Philadelphia
in 1834, on the occasion of the formal opening of the Phila-
delphia and Columbia Railroad. An interesting ancedote in
connection with this trip has come down to us through Prof.
Abraham R. Beck, already mentioned in these pages. He re-
lates that the band sat on top of one of the cars, and an un-
expectedly low Dbridgz knocked the “stove-pipe” hat off of
onc of the players. The engincer 'lccomod:uingly stopped the
train long enough for him to recover his “topper.”

At a later date — in the 1870’s and '8('s — the “Lititz
Cornet Band,” of sixtcen or
cighteen members, flourished,
and must have shown con-
siderable skill in performance.
In their gold-braided and
brass-buttoned uniforms with
dark-blue swallow-tailed coats,
cpaulets, and high band
caps with lighter blue plumes,
they made a fine appear-
ance as they marched with
the Philadelphia Republican
club, at Washington, for the
inauguration  of  President
James A, Garfield, in 1881,
and Jesse Panncbaker, whom
the older residents of Lititz
sl.il] 1*cmen.1l)cr \‘vcll. \\'Cmfi"g :Il‘ll:info:!::lmnf(‘illrwp nsl:{ym(‘:::?.?ft }'!lnn‘(h'(:
his twcnty-mch-lngh drum ma- which marched in the fnaugural par-
s ade in Whashington for President
jors hat of flll‘, wa: the sen- James A. Qarfield, in 1881, (From a

sation of the pnradc, as he p}hot]?g;gm:"sl(;nnml by his son, Har-
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strutted in characteristic style at the head of the band, twirl-
ing his baton, tossing it into the air “as high as a two-story
building” and catching it, with claborate case, as it came
down. Some of the men, also, had their first and somewhat
awkward experiences  with city hotel dining rooms and

menus. ()

Industries

Irom the earliest davs, Lititz was an industrial town.
The Moravian congregation itself, as an organization, con-
ducted several farms, a saw and grist mill, a general store, a
tavern, a potash factory, and an apothecary’s shop — the first
one in Lancaster County, opened in 1760, by Dr. Frederick
Owo, who came here from Bethlehem to serve the congrega-
von as physician and apothecary.

The Brethren's and Sisters” Houses were required to
support themscelves as separate
institutions,  They combined
maintenance with vocational
training, by running cach its
own farm; the Brethren's
House also conducting shops
in which the trades of weaver,
baker, nailsmith, chandler,
hatter, carpenter,  butcher,
tailor and shoemaker were car-
riecd on; and the Sisters’
House making ncedlework,
United States Post Office buitding, cmbroidery, hosiery and con-
erected 14939, fCCli()llCl‘)’.

Some of the trades learned in the Brethren’s House were
later followed by individuals as a means of livelihood, and
other private enterprise was permitted in the town. Among
the pioncers in rather unusual lines might be mentioned
David Tannenherg, the organ builder; Matthias Tschudy, the
chip-hat and bonnet maker (the only one in America) :
Williamm Rauch, the pretzel baker; Jacob Geitner, the tanner;
and John Henry Rauch, blacksmith and spurrier, who also
made the [first screw augers. He manufactured these for
Judge William Henry, of Lancaster, the inventor, who intro-
duced the invention into England and brought it into gen-
cral usce. The organs and chip-hats made in Lititz attained
nationwide fame, and were shipped great distances; and the

town is still famous for its pretzels.
Today Lititz is said to be one of the greatest manufac-

(1)—Maos* of the information in regard to this band was secured from
Jliram Workman, whose father-in-law, the late Wilson Baum, was the last

HvinT memher of the bhand. :
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turing centers in proportion to its population, in the United
States. Its products are as varied, and some of them as
unique, as in the carly days. It is the home of the main
ofice and main plant of the Animal Trap Company of
America, the largest trap factory in the world; whose products
arc shipped to the four corners of the carth. The Wilbur-
Suchard Chocolate Company also has its main oflice and
plant here. 'The Morgan Paper Company, formerly a division
ol the United States Envelope Company, but now an inde-
pendent  corporation, has its home in Lititz.. One ol the
“Standard  Brands”  plants,

making the famous “V-8": sev- "5\3

eral ktl.witting and underwear ..8‘.

mills, shoe [Lactories, garment
factories and turniawe factor-
ics; besides many smaller in-
dustrial establishments: are lo-
cated herve. These all keep up
the town’s carly reputation for
diversification of products, and
helped o cushion the hard-
ships ol the recent lean vears,
which hl.l .“'”h ]?le‘ll(flll:ll‘ force Lititz Springs National DBank baild-
communities built around any ing. erected 1922,

one line ol industry,

Chamber of Commerce

An important contributing factor to the thriving in-
dustrial life of the present borough is the Lititz Chamber of
Commerce, organized in 1928,
This important body is an out-
growth of the Lititz Board of
Trade which was instituted in
1899.  The late John G. Zook
and \W. H. Muth were the found-
ers of this carlier organization;
and the immediate influx of new
industries showed the wisdom of
its institution.  Within a few
vears the character of the in-
dustrial life of the town changed,
giving it a preponderance of in-
carporated stock companies over
the many privately owned busi-

“armers N 3ank build-
I L nesses of former days. It was
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during this time that the predecessors of several of the Bor-
ough’s largest corporations hegan operating in Lititz.

The Chamber of Commerce has enlarged the scope of
the carlier organization, and is consistently promoting not
only the industrial, but the civic life of the community, in
cvery way possible.

“Zum Anker” Inn

Strange o say, the only one of the carly Congregational
enterprises still doing business, and at the original site, is the
tavern. A frame building was crected for this purpose in
1764; and a two-story brick addition, which is part of the
present hotel building, was added in 1801, It bore the name
“Zum Anker” (Anchor Inn), which was displayed, with the
picturc of an anchor, as its sign, before the door. The hotel
was administered for the Congregation by a succession of
landlords until 1834, about the time the “Settlement” arrange-
ment was discontinued, when it was purchased by Samuel
Lichtenthaeler, who operated it until his death in 1867.

“Wabank House’

In 1863 Mr. Lichtenthacler purchased the “Wabank
House,” a large foursstory frame building which stood on the
banks® of the Conestoga Creck some distance southwest of
Lancaster. He took it down and re-erected it in Lititz on
hotel land extending along South Broad Street southward
almost to Juniper Alley, where he operated it in connection
with the original brick hotel. The building made a fine
appearance; and, with its genial landlord, and colored waiters
to serve the patrons, attracted summer boarders from ncar
and far; making Lititz quite a resort town for years to come.
"Ten years later, on July 21, 1873, after it had passed into
other hands, this frame structure was destroyed by fire.

. .. The “Wabank House” (from
S P o an old drawing). The
g 2 A7) . building was ereccted on
Sak - TR et + the bank of the Conestogn,
R southwest of Lancaster in
& e o 1835, It was taken down
TN a7 and re-erected In Lititz In
‘ ,_/,-/s, 1843-64, by Samuel Lichten-
z thaeler, It wag destroyed
4.2 by fire July 31, 1873. Note
; /g the narrow two-story build-
% ing on the left. This was
; ) the brick bullding erected
2 in 1804 as an  addition to
» : ' the old “Zum Anker" Inn.
. It is a part of the present

- GGeneral Sutter Hotel.




General Sutter Hotel

The old brick hotel building was later enlarged to
several times its original size; and in 1929 was purchased by
the Community Hotel Corporation, an organization of citizens
of Lititz, sponsored by the
Young Men’s Business League,
who formed a stock company
1o take over the property and
make it into a modern hotel.
It was very much changed and
heautitied, both  inside and
out; a large dining room. sun
parlor, and other additions
being built; but ic still incor-
porates  the original — brick
building of 1801 In 1930 the
vemodeled ly()lCl ““S,()med Public  square and  General  Sutter
to the l)lll)llc — agam as in Hotel. ‘the hotel is tn oufgrowth of

. L . “Zum  Anker” Tun, -stablished 1764
the beginning, a community present modern  bulding  opened  to

')l'OjCCt. the public 1930.

The building is now known as the “General Sutter”
Hotel, being named for General John Augustus Sutter, on
whose land gold was discovered in California; for he spent
his lasc years in Lititz, and, with his wile, is buried on the
Moravian graveyard.

It is interesting to note
that a most unusual dual cere-
mony was conducted simul-
tancously in Lititz, Pennsyl-
vania, and, across the contin-
ent, in Sacramento. California,
on August 12, 1939, in com-
memoration of the centennial
of the founding of “New Hel-
vetia,” now Sacramento, by
v SR ety General Sutter. Among other
o TR features of the ceremony was

the unveiling, by the Hon.
Last resting place (on_the Moravinn  Frank H. Buck, of California,
gravevard) of Qeneral John Augustus
Sutter, founder of “New Helvetin” of a plaque, presented and
novyancpamente: Califoruin. 16 wie erected by the citizens of Sac-
was discovered In 1848, Ife_spent his ramento, at Sutter’s grave;
last years of poverty and disappoint- .
ment in Litltz. after his land haa and, in Sacramento, a tahlet
AR S A h:"vl&(i%'.wa‘v gold ¢ the entrance to the recon-
structed Sutter’s Fort, a gift
of the citizens of Lititz. The latter was unveiled by C. Rob-

ert Longenecker, a former resident of Lititz.
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Recreation Center

Aqother community project of recent years is the “Rec-
reation Center,” opened in June, 1945. In line with present
ideas, but with the same interest in the welfare of the youth
of the borough that prevailed in the days of old, a large
building was bought and presented to the town for this pur-
pose, by Ralph Spacht, a public-spirited citizen of Lititz. Be-
fore it was rcady for use, the bhuilding underwent extensive
renovations; and it has been completely furnished, and fitted
out with a snack bar and facilities for games and amusements
of various kinds, under a planned and supervised program of
activities for the young people of the town. It also provides
rooms where clubs and other organizations may hold meetings
or social functions. A Coordinating Council, made up of rep-
resentatives from the diflerent organizations, was recently cs-
tablished, and is putting forth every cffort to make the build-
ing a rcal Community Center, where not only the young
people, but everyone in Lititz, may find a place to spend an
cvening of wholesome entertainment or educational activity.

Park
‘The Lititz Springs Park is a further evidence of sus-
tained community spirit, and a rcal asset to the town. Al-
though title to the land is vested in the Moravian Congre-
gation, the park and its activities are under the management
of a committec which is a cross-section of the citizenship of

the borough.
The first mention of

the Lititz Springs as a pleas-
ure resort is in May, 1778,
during the time when the
hosiptal was in operation
here; when the “Aufseher Co-
legium” was very much ex-
ercised because “some of our
musicians are in the habit
of indulging, late into the
v night. in merry making at the
Lititz Sprivgs in 1845 (From a  Big Spring,” where Tobias
paintng by J. Angustus Beck.) Hirte, one of the young musi-
cians, had laid out a special place for that purpose. It was
also flcqucmcd by some of the convalescent soldiers. How-
ever, early in the Nincteenth Century, although somewhat
against the better judgment of the village fathers, the young
people were givcn the use of an acre of ground around the
“Big Spring,” which they then, with the consent of the
authorities,” fitted up as a pleasure ground; planting arbors
and trees and ]aymg out walks. The arched stone bridge was
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probably built at this time for, according to a Mrs. Haldeman,
who was a pupil at Linden Hall between 1800 and 1802, the
spring was then already “arched over.”

From 1846 to 1856 the park was given over to John Beck
to use as a pleasure ground for his school boys. He, with his
boys, took great pains to develop it, and many of the large
trees growiny there today were ol his planting. The sand-
stone fonts and coping around the head of the spring were
laid in 18356 by a committee of public-spirited men of the
town. The park has been further improved and beautified
with the passing yeawrs, by the ever-active Springs Committee.
It is a natural beauty-spot, with one of the strongest springs
in Pennsylvania.

Points of particular interest in the park are the carved
lion's head, the work of the artist, J. Augustus Beck, done in
1857; the log cabin built on the hill in 1927 by, and for the
us¢ of, the Boy Scouts of Lititz; and the band shell crected
in 1937 by popular subscription through the cfforts of the
Chamber of Commerce, and dedicated to the memory of the
late Prof. Paul E. Beck, band and orchestra 'eader, and for
many years Supervisor of Music and Art in the Lititz Public
Schools.

Fourth of July Celebration

As carly as 1811 Fourth of July celebrations were held
on the Springs grounds; and in 1813 the candle illumination
was introduced, 100 candles being used.  This illumination
has become more extensive each year, and now the park be-
comes a veritable fairvland, with  thousands of candles,
doubled by their twinkling reflections in the water beneath
them. The One Hundredth candle illumination was com-
memorated in 1942, by instituting the crowning of *“The
Qucen of the Candles.” This ceremony met with instant
approval, and has since become one of the most pleasing fea-
tures of the annual celebration.

Links With The Past

Thus the community spirit in Lititz today is as strong
as in the old “Scttlement” days; and the rehgious, cduca-
tional, industrial and social life of the town are strongly
linked to the past. The celebration of special *“holy days”
and “holidays” and the observance of many other cherished
customs and traditions form an anchoring chain, binding the
sometimes thoughtless and worldly present to the deeply re-
ligious past; and provide a steadving force to the youth of to-
day.
Easter, Fourth of July, Christmas -- What son of Lititz
would willingly be elsewhere on these days!
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Principle Industries of Lititz

Animal “T'rap Co. ol America . — - N. Locust Street
B. & G. Shoe Co. .. - . . .. - Marion Street
Badorl Shoe Co. . . - .-~ W, Lincoln Avenue
Betord Shoe Co. .o .- 0 .. ..~ Kline Street
Ivan Behmer - - o : - o Front Street
Floyd Hackman - Furniowe 200 S0 Broad Strect
Keath Planing Mill Co. . : o Front Street
Lititz Furniture Co. .- - - Front Street
Lititz Processing Co. (former \\’oll( g.n.u_,c) -~ W. Main Sneet
Lititz Shoe Co. ... ... ... ... _._.___ . Kline Street
Lititz Sportswear (.(). . ~ oo B S Spruce Street
Lititz Springs Pretzel Co. - ... .._ Pine & College Streets
Morgan Paper Co. .= oo . .. . N. Cedar Street
Noggle Shirt Factory o eoao Liberty Street
S. H. Nuss - Furniture - . . -~ - .. Center Street
Regennas Candy .. - - W, Lemon Strect
Simplex Paper Box Co. - . ... - .= . - Water Street
Standard Brands, Inc. .. - Water Street
Sl.mlc) Underwear ... - = 13 S, Broad Street

AL Sturgis (Phares Knhmh\ - - L. Main Street
\ D. Sturgis Bakery .- ... wo= . .~ E. Main Succt
Wilbur-Suchard Chocolate Co. .- .~ . N. DBroad Streer
H. B. Workman & Co. ... .. __.____.__.  W. Orange Street
Yerger Bros. Planing Mill .. . .. . _ .. Front Sweet

Courtesy of

ANIMAL TRAP CO. OF AMERICA



